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Introduction
Conditions: 
8(ii) 8 (iii) 8(k) 6(ii) 6(iii) 6(k)
National Grid has engaged IPB 
Communications to coordinate the 
delivery of public benefits for the 
scheme to remove the tank and 
bell and refurbish the frame of the 
Grade II Listed gasholder at their 
site off Admiralty Road in Great 
Yarmouth. IPB has worked with 
National Grid for over 10 years and 
worked on over 40 gasholders, 
including refurbishment projects.
This  plan is submitted in support 
of discharging GYBC Full Planning 
Condition 8 and Listed Building 
Consent Condition 6 for planning 
approval reference 06/23/0522/F.  
References to the relevant 
conditions are made throughout 
the plan. This plan should be read 
with reference to the enclosed 
timetable which also details the 
relevant conditions, recipients and 
responsible organisations within the 
wider project team.
All parties included in this plan and 
supporting timetable are instructed 
and under contract for the project.
Objectives
• To ensure a programme of 

public benefits that meets the 
requirements of the planning 
conditions

• To raise awareness of the 
gasholder among residents, 
visitors, interest groups and 
wider stakeholders

• To provide access to free online 
and onsite information about the 
history of the site

• To ensure the retention of 
suitable parts of the gasholder 
on site and in partnership with 
local museums and similar 
organisations
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Community Awareness 
Conditions: 8(i) 8(j) 6(i) 6(j) 6(k)
Before site works start a press 
release will be issued and a letter 
sent to circa 760 homes and 
businesses close to the works in 
the area above.
The letter and press release 
will contain details of the work, 
timescales, working hours, 
website address and details of 
how to contact the project team 
via freephone, email and freepost. 
Signage on the site gates and walls 
will also contain this information 
along with a QR code link to the 
website.
Regular updates about the work 
and progress will be provided on 
the website and if appropriate by 
further letters.
Letters will be copied to borough 
and county ward councillors and 
the local MP.

Website 
Conditions: 
8(i) 8 (a) 8(c) 8(g) 6(c) 6(f) 6(g)
The website will be hosted at 
www.greatyarmouthgasholder.
info, the same address as the pre-
planning public consultation. The 
website will include an overview 
of the work, rationale, how to 
get in touch and a section on the 
history of the site. It will be updated 
with details of progress regularly 
to reflect different stages of the 
work. A separate section of the 
website will be created to provide 
an online record of dismantled and 
retained parts of the cast iron tank 
segments, including the maker’s 
name plate. An example website 
can be viewed at 
https://www.nationalgas.com/
land-and-assets/windsor-
street-gasholders
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Interpretation Panel
Conditions 8(a) 6(a) 8(i)
Researching and documenting the 
history of the site will take some 
time. While this is being undertaken 
a temporary interpretation panel 
will be installed at the approximate 
location shown above in red (not to 
scale).
This indicative location is subject 
to site survey but was chosen for 
its proximity to the Banksy mural. 
This will maximise its visibility to the 
local community and also visitors 
viewing the mural.
This initial panel will contain the 
basic historical information that 
is already known about the site, 
details of the works and a QR code 
linking to the website. This will be 
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The gasworks in Lavenham had strong 
links with the nearby town of Sudbury. 
Sudbury had been lit by gas from 1836 
and it was the lessee of these gasworks, 
Alexander Roger Stark, who proposed 
building a gasworks for Lavenham in 
1861, financed by himself. Lavenham 
was first lit by gas on Wednesday  
14th October 1863. It was a high-profile 
event where different tradespeople  
in the town displayed images with 
elaborate gas burners outside their 
premises. Stark hosted a celebratory 
dinner at the Swan Hotel.

The gasworks remained a private business, 
firstly owned by Stark, and then by
successive members of the Grimwood family, 
until it was sold in 1937 to the Sudbury  
Gas and Coke Company. A 4.5 mile steel 
gas pipeline was built from their gasworks 
to Lavenham, ending gas production in the 
town. However, gas continued to be stored 
on the Lavenham site until 1993. 

The Lavenham 
Gasworks

A plan of Lavenham 
Gasworks c1872, showing 
the retort house, the 
location of the equipment 
used to remove impurities, 
and surviving gasholder.

Lavenham was first lit  
by gas on Wednesday  
14th October 1863.

Gas has been used as a fuel in Great 
Britain for over 200 years. It was first 
used in mills and factories before  
the first public gas company was 
established in London in 1812.  
Gas was used to provide lighting  
for streets to make them safer,  
and in the home so better use could  
be made of the evenings. Unlike  
the natural gas that we use today,  
which comes from reservoirs deep 
underground, this “Town Gas”  
was made from coal. 

It was heated in an oven called a retort. 
As the coal was heated it released the  
gas and some impurities. The gas was then 
cleaned by passing it through condensers, 
washers and purifiers, to remove the 
impurities before it was used. 

Gas 
production

A view across 
Lavenham Gasworks.
Source:  Lavenham 
Exhibition and  
Museum Trust.

This gasholder is the last remaining 
feature of the gasworks. It was 
used to store enough gas to supply 
the town. 

The gas industry was nationalised 
in 1949 and the site came under  
the control of the Eastern Gas Board. 
The country switched to using natural 
gas in 1966 following the discovery  
of huge reserves in the North Sea. 
Regional gas boards were re-structured 
in 1973 with the formation of the  
British Gas Corporation which became 
British Gas plc when it was privatised  
in August 1986. 

In 1994 Transco became responsible 
for the transport and storage of gas 
and Transco’s parent company  
merged with National Grid in 2002  
to create a combined gas and electricity 
transmission business. Today gas is 
distributed in Lavenham by Cadent Gas. 

The UK gas 
industry

Welcome to the site of 
the former Lavenham 
Gasworks.

A diorama of William 
Murdoch demonstrating 
gas lighting at his home 
in Redruth, Cornwall. 
Source: National Grid 
Gas Archive.

Lavenham Gasworks

Gas manager’s 
house and office

Gasworks 
entrance

Retort 
house

Gasholder
tank

Gasholder
lift

A mock-up of the 
gasworks frontage 
c1925.  

The country switched to using 
natural gas from 1966 following 
the discovery of huge reserves  
in the North Sea.

A considerable improvement  
in lighting occurred in the  
1790s with the start of the 
manufactured gas era.

The Lavenham 
Gasholder 

This gasholder is the last remaining 
feature of the gasworks. It was used  
to store enough gas to supply the town. 
It has two main sections, a cast iron 
tank that was filled with water and  
a lift which was made from wrought  
iron or steel and filled with gas. The lift 
would move up and down on wheels 
attached to its sides dependent on the 
volume of gas stored. The water acted  
as a seal to keep the gas in the lift. 

It was one of two gasholders on the 
site, the second was dismantled before 
1987. It is not known who constructed 
the surviving gasholder but it is believed 
to date from 1862. The gasholder  
is a dated design, even for the 1860s. 

The tank is made from cast iron 
plates, bolted together, and caulked for 
waterproofing. It has five cast iron columns 
which are connected at the top by more 
recent steel girders. In June 1980 it was 
protected when it became a Scheduled 
Monument. The gasholder was used 
to store gas until 1993.

In 2022, it was restored by National 
Grid and gifted to the Parish Council. 
A free booklet on the history of the 
Lavenham Gasworks is available from 
the Village Information Point or can 
be downloaded from here.

installed within three months of 
work on site starting.
Once the historic research 
is complete a permanent 
interpretation panel will be 
developed. This will contain a 
summary of the history of the site 
and appropriate information about 
the work undertaken to secure the 
future of the gasholder frame. It will 
continue to host a QR code to, and 
details of, the website. An example 
from a similar scheme is shown 
below.
We envisage this final panel being 
installed and unveiled as part of 
the celebrations of the completion 
of the works and as part of a 
stakeholder event. This is expected 
to be at the end of 2026. A film of a 
similar event can be viewed here.

Retention and on-site storage
Conditions 8(d) 8(e) 6(c) 6(d) 6(e)
Historic Building Recording 
and liaison with the Council’s 
Conservation Officer and Historic 
Environment Record Officer during 
the works will identify parts of the 
gasholder tank and bell of interest 
to be retained.
Subject to being able to safely 
remove these during the 
dismantling works, these will be 
cleaned, wrapped in appropriate 
materials, placed in suitable 
storage containers and placed in a 
suitable location on the site.
Photographs and details of these 
items will be recorded and held 
available for free public access on 
the website.
Site History
Conditions 8(i) 8(g) 6(g) 8(h) 6(h)
Professor Russell Thomas is a 
world renowned expert in the 
investigation, understanding, 
remediation and history of former 
gasworks.
Russell spends his time 
investigating, researching and 
advising on former gasworks sites 
in the UK and abroad. He is a 
Technical Director at WSP and is a 
visiting professor in the Department 
of Civil and Environmental 
Engineering at Strathclyde 
University.

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=o3RHrgOdaD8
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Russell has been commissioned 
to research the history of the 
site and the gasholder. As part 
of the commission he will also 
produce a booklet which will be 
freely available to download in pdf 
form from the website. Copies will 
also be provided to support any 
exhibitions with local museums and 
on request. An example of a similar 
booklet can be viewed by clicking 
on this icon.

His commission also includes the 
delivery of a talk, either online or in 
person, on the history of the gas 
industry and the Great Yarmouth 
site. This will be promoted via the 
local press, initial letter and to 
interest groups. The event will be 
filmed and made freely available on 
the website.
Public access and school 
engagement
Conditions 8(j) 8(i)
Site visits will be provided during 
the works for interested members 
of the public and stakeholders. 
These will be advertised locally 
and will be bookable in advance 

to ensure appropriate health and 
safety measures are in place. 
We envisage these taking place 
annually throughout the works 
programme. An example of such 
visits at a site in Manchester can 
be viewed here.  
Local schools will also be 
approached regarding classroom 
activities and potential site visits 
subject to risk assessments. An 
example of a similar project with 
a local school in Birmingham can 
be found here. Such engagement 
will include the history of the site; 
hence it is planned for after the 
research is completed.
Recording
Conditions 8(i) 8 (a)
In addition to Level 3 Historic 
Building Recording (Conditions 5 
and 6), the works will be filmed 
at each stage, documenting the 
process. An example of such a film 
can be viewed here.  
A time-lapse will also be captured 
of the works – examples can 
be viewed at https://www.
nationalgas.com/land-and-
assets/windsor-street-
gasholders 
Both films will be made available on 
the website and to local museums.
Heritage Skills Training
Conditions 8(b) 6(b)
The project team will be briefed 
on the importance of the heritage 
of the site and this public benefits 

plan. Toolbox talks, RAMS and 
other methods will be used to 
ensure anyone working on the 
holder uses appropriate techniques 
to maximise the protection of the 
integrity of the structure and pieces 
of material removed. Only specialist 
contractors will be used on the 
dismantling and refurbishment 
parts of the works.
Museum donations and 
exhibitions
Conditions 8(i) 8 (a) 8(f) 8(i) 6(f) 6(i)
The team will approach the Norfolk 
Museums team with a view to 
supporting an exhibition and/or 
donation of part of the gasholder. 
This will include the donation of 
suitable parts of the gasholder tank 
and bell, potential sponsorship of 
an exhibition and longer term to the 
offer of films and other materials 
produced through the project. 
The team will also approach the 
Fakenham Gasworks Museum. 
IPB and National Grid have 
experience of this type of project 
with the Thinktank Museum in 
Birmingham. A film explaining 
this project can be found here. 
The team will also approach the 
Conservation Society, Victorian 
Society and other bodies identified 
throughout the project regarding 
possible donations.

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=hVC5ljSPOQc&ab_channel=ipbcommunications
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=urkjSIAsOdM&ab_channel=ipbcommunications
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=LwlmVaXKHJ8&ab_channel=ipbcommunications
https://www.nationalgas.com/land-and-assets/windsor-street-gasholders
https://www.nationalgas.com/land-and-assets/windsor-street-gasholders
https://www.nationalgas.com/land-and-assets/windsor-street-gasholders
https://www.nationalgas.com/land-and-assets/windsor-street-gasholders
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=oa-wo3X3_aQ&ab_channel=ipbcommunications
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02 Introduction


Preface
This booklet has been written to commemorate 
Lavenham’s surviving gasholder which is a scheduled 
monument and is the last structure associated with 
Lavenham’s former gasworks dating back to 1863, 
which once stood on the same Water Street site  
as the gasholder. The Lavenham Gasworks operated  
as a private business until 1937, when it was taken over 
by the larger nearby Sudbury Gas and Coke Company. 
The Sudbury Gas and Coke Company built a pipeline 
and supplied the town with gas from their gasworks  
in Sudbury, closing the Lavenham Gasworks. The gas 
industry was nationalised in 1949 and the Sudbury Gas 
and Coke Company became part of the Eastern Gas 
Board. The gas networks in Great Britain switched to 
natural gas between 1966 and 1976, which is still used 
today supplied by National Grid Gas Transmission and 
Cadent, the local gas distribution company. It is hoped 
that this booklet will bring to life some of the 150-year 
history of the gas industry in Lavenham and provide  
a context to its surviving gasholder. Several photographs, 
plans and a couple of views of the former gasworks  
have been recreated in this document to show what  
the gasworks would have once looked like.


The heritage of the gas industry in the United Kingdom  
is maintained through the three preserved gasworks  
sites at Fakenham (England), Biggar (Scotland) and 
Carrickfergus (Northern Ireland); the National Gas 
Museum in Leicester; and the National Grid Gas Archive 
in Warrington. There are educational materials available  
on the National Grid website and there is also a web  
page on the Historic England website which provides  
a series of reports on the history of the gas industry  
and description of the technologies used and known 
locations of former gasworks in England. They are all 
excellent resources for learning more about the long  
and interesting history of what was once a major UK 
industry and employer.


Acknowledgements
The author wishes to thank National Grid Property 
which has supported the preparation and production 
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past. Russell is a member of the Institution of Gas 
Engineers and Managers and the Chair of their  
History Panel.


All information featured in the document 
is correct on the date of publishing.
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The famous medieval town of 
Lavenham in Suffolk has a hidden 
industrial history like many similar 
towns across the country. 


Introduction


It once had a gasworks which 
manufactured gas. The gas was 
used to light the streets and the 
buildings of the town and was  
also used for cooking and heating. 


A single structure from this gas-
making era survives on Water  
Street – the gasholder, which was 
once used to store gas made at the 
gasworks. The gasholder is a rare 
surviving structure and is protected 
as a Scheduled Monument. 


Gas was once manufactured in 
every town and city in Great Britain, 
and even some village and country 
estates had their own gasworks. 
This leaflet briefly describes the 
development of the gas industry 
in Britain and how gas was 
manufactured and introduced 
to Lavenham.
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Gasholder
Gas meter and 
governor house


Gas 
purifiers


Gas 
condenser


Retort 
house


Lavenham Gasworks
This is how the gasworks 
would have looked with  
the remaining gasholder.


Gas manager’s 
house and office


Gasworks 
entrance


Retort 
house


Retort 
house
chimney
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A keen technology enthusiast 
and customer of Boulton and Watt, 
George Lee, persuaded them to 
design a plant to light his home 
and the Salford Twist Mill with gas. 
Whilst Murdoch was dealing with 
the complexity of this large project, 
a former apprentice, Samuel Clegg, 
beat Murdoch to install the first 
commercial gas plant. This was 
installed at the much smaller 
mill of Henry Lodge in Sowerby 
Bridge, Yorkshire.


These gas plants were designed to 
provide gas lighting to factories and 
mills, improving working conditions 
and extending working hours during 
the dark winter months. 


For the wider vision of a gas network 
providing a public supply of gas  
to streetlights, public buildings and 
private properties, we have German 
entrepreneur Friedrich Winzer (Figure 
2) to thank. Winzer, who changed  
his name to Frederick Winsor, came  
to Britain in 1803 with the aim of 
establishing a gas company.


He achieved his aim, helping to 
establish the Gas Light and Coke 
Company, when it received its royal 
charter in 1812. The gas industry 
became the first public energy utility, 
with the first gasworks providing  
a public supply in London in 1813. 
Over the next 50 years, the gas 
industry would expand across  
the British Isles and abroad.


Figure 2. 
Portrait of Frederick Winsor.  
Source: National Gas Museum.


Up until the start of the 19th 
century, the choices for lighting 
were limited. The best options 
were candles and oil lamps.  
But these gave off a very dim  
light and burnt with a smoky 
flame. Such poor lighting did  
little to make the streets safer  
at night. The new factories  
of the industrial revolution were 
dark and risky places to work, 
and homes, if you were lucky 
enough to afford lighting, were  
at best dimly lit with people still  
at the whim of the daylight hours. 


The development of the 
gas industry in Britain


A considerable improvement in 
lighting occurred in the 1790s with 
the start of the manufactured gas  
era. The Scotsman William Murdoch 
developed experimental plants to 
manufacture gas from coal. Murdoch 
demonstrated the gas lighting at  
his house and office in the town of 
Redruth, Cornwall (Figure 1), where 
he was employed by the famous 
engineering company Boulton and 
Watt to construct steam engines 
for the Cornish mine captains.


The gas industry did not become 
a commercial entity until the first 
decade of the 19th century when 
Murdoch persuaded his employer 
Boulton and Watt to invest in the 
development of commercial gas 
manufacturing plant.


Figure 1. 
A diorama of William Murdoch demonstrating 
gas lighting at his home in Redruth, Cornwall. 
Source: National Grid Gas Archive.


A considerable improvement 
in lighting occurred in the 
1790s with the start of the 
manufactured gas era.
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The first town near to Lavenham 
to construct a gasworks was 
Sudbury, whose wealthy residents 
decided to form the Sudbury 
Gas and Coke Company in 1836. 
The gasworks there was being 
built by Messrs. George and 
James Malam, who had recently 
completed gasworks in Bury St. 
Edmunds, Ely and Newmarket. 
The gasworks were built in 1836 
on the banks of the River Stour. 
The Sudbury Paving and Lighting 
Commissioners awarded the 
company a contract to provide 
gas street lighting in the town. 
It would, however, be some time 
until Lavenham was to receive 
the benefits of gas.


The gasworks in Sudbury 
manufactured gas from coal for 
lighting the streets and the most 
important public buildings in the 
town. It would later be extended  
to the homes of those wealthy 
enough to be able to afford it.  
The original gasworks was much 
smaller than can be seen in the 
photograph in Figure 3, taken  
almost 100 years after it had been 
established. The original gasworks 
only had 5 retorts (described later), 
whereas the gasworks shown had  
42 retorts.


The Sudbury Gasworks gradually 
expanded and evolved through its 
years of operation, automating many 
processes and using ever more 
efficient plant and processes. Figure 
3 is a photograph (c1930) taken from 
an elevated position on the platform 
of the tank of the gasholder No.3, 
looking past the No.1 and No.2 
gasholders towards the two tall tower 
scrubbers, engine house and retort 
house toward the River Stour.


Gas was used for lighting for the 
first 70 years across Britain. Although 
attempts had been made to extend 
the use of gas for other purposes, 
it was not until 1855 when Dr Robert 
Bunsen developed the aerated 
burner in Germany, that the effective 
use of gas for heating was made. 
Other applications for gas would 
soon be found in cooking (Figure 4) 
and heating in the home and 
workplace.


The gas industry in Lavenham had 
strong links with the nearby town 
of Sudbury throughout its history. 
The lighting of Lavenham by gas 
was first proposed by Alexander 
Roger Stark at a meeting of the 
inhabitants of Lavenham in the 
Swan Hotel during August 1861. 
At this time Alexander Stark held 
the lease of the nearby Sudbury 
Gasworks, having obtained a 
10-year lease in 1858. He also 
held the position of engineer  
for Woolwich Consumers Gas 
Company who operated a gasworks 
in Woolwich near London.


Alexander Stark was able to operate 
both the Woolwich and Sudbury 
Gasworks because he had employed 
Percy John Wates as manager of the 
Sudbury Gasworks, a position he 
held until his promotion to a more 
senior role at the gasworks in 
Loughborough, Leicestershire.  
Percy Wates eventually became  
the engineer of the large Vauxhall 
Gasworks of the Phoenix Gas 
Company in South London.


Alexander Stark maintained his 
position at Woolwich Consumers Gas 
Company whilst also being the lessee 
at Sudbury and the promoter of the 
Lavenham Gasworks. He referred  
to himself as Alexander Roger Stark 
Esquire, this suggested he was a 
man of means which would explain 
why he was able to offer to build  
the gasworks at his own cost and  
to supply gas at the cost of 8s 4d  
per thousand feet of gas.


The aforementioned meeting at the 
Swan Hotel resolved “That in the 
opinion of this meeting it is desirable 
that this town should be lighted with 
gas, and Mr. Stark having offered  
to erect as above, the meeting do 
approve of his proposal”. Press 
reports suggest that Mr. Stark had 
another gas engineer rival bidding  
to build the gasworks, a Mr. Stears, 
which probably refers to the well-
known gas engineers William Morley 
Stears and Edward Stears, who had 
built numerous gasworks across 
the country.
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Figure 4. 
An early gas cooker circa 1900.  
Source: Author.


Figure 3. 
A view across Sudbury Gasworks 
from gasholder No.3 looking 
towards the Horizontal Retort 
House, c1930.  
Source: National Grid Gas Archive.


A gasworks 
for Sudbury


Gas reaches 
Lavenham







0908


The event was celebrated by a 
dinner at the Swan Hotel, which was 
hosted by Alexander Stark, and all 
the town notables were invited, as 
was the Chairman of the Woolwich 
Gas Company who was evidently 
linked to the Lavenham Gasworks 
through Alexander Stark. The 
Reverend J. M. Croker gave the 
support of the church to the venture 
as it intended to “improve the moral 
and social condition of the people” 
and he noted that “he hailed with 
pleasure the diffusion of more light, 
for it always tended to the increase  
of goodness and happiness among 
all classes of society”.


Alexander Stark had obviously not 
intended to hold on to the Lavenham 
Gasworks, at the dinner he described 
the gasworks as a “pet project” of 
his and said that “whenever it suited 
them, they (the town) might take the 
works off his hands for a fair valuation”. 
The Lavenham Gasworks was only 
ever a small gasworks as shown 
in Figure 6. It comprised of a single 
stack of retorts, a condenser, a
washer, a set of two purifiers, a tar 
tank and gasholder. The purpose of 
these is described in a later section. 
The gasworks also had a manager’s 
house which doubled as an office.


A second gasholder was built after 
1905. The origin of the second 
gasholder built at Lavenham 
Gasworks, which has since been 
removed is well known. It had been 
built by the well-known London 
gas engineer Samuel Cutler and 
Sons of Millwall. Plans of this 
gasholder survive.


Alexander Stark was evidently 
a talented engineer as he had 
registered two patents associated 
with the manufacture of gas in 
1866. As a lessee his involvement  
at Sudbury Gasworks was not 
indefinite, his lease ended in 1871 
and was transferred to Thomas Hill 
Methven of the Bury St. Edmunds 
Gasworks. It is likely he would have 
given up his involvement in the 
smaller Lavenham Gasworks around 
the same time.
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Figure 6. 
A drawing of Lavenham 
Gasworks c1872. 
Source: National Grid 
Gas Archive


Figure 5. 
Popular shapes for elaborate 
gas burners, including the Prince 
of Wales’s Feather and Crown 
used in Lavenham.


Two years after this meeting,  
in 1863, the gasworks in 
Lavenham were constructed  
by Alexander Roger Stark. They 
were located at the foot of Water 
Street and cost £1,400 to build. 
Designing the gasworks would 
not have been a challenge to 
Alexander Stark as he had made 
considerable improvements and 
extensions to the larger Woolwich 
Gasworks previously.


It is not known who constructed the 
gasholder which still stands on Water 
Street, but it is believed to date from 
1862. Alexander Stark had advertised 
that he wanted a second-hand 
gasholder in the Gas Journal in  
1861, this was the year he proposed 
to build a gasworks at Lavenham. 
Such gasholders with above-ground 
tanks could quite easily be taken 
apart, transported and rebuilt in a 
new location. This advert may have 
also been associated with one of his 
other gasworks. 


The gasholder is of an old design 
with a tank constructed from cast 
iron plates bolted together and 
caulked for waterproofing. It has  
five cast iron columns, which are 
connected at the top by more recent 
steel channel. The gasholder is now  
a Scheduled Monument (Entry No. 
1005965).


Lavenham was first lit by gas on 
Wednesday 14th October 1863.  
It was a high-profile event which 
different tradespeople in the town 
marked by displaying elaborate gas 
burners outside their premises.  
Mr. Barber the chemist had a gas 
burner in the shape of a star and 
Mr. Laurie who lived on Water Street 
had a gas burner in the shape  
of the Prince of Wales’s feathers.  
The gasworks was itself emblazoned 
with a large gas burner in the shape 
of a crown above the door. Examples 
of these patterns are shown in Figure 
5, which is taken from Newbiggin’s 
Handbook for Gas Engineers and 
Managers of 1905.


Lavenham was first lit  
by gas on Wednesday  
14th October 1863.
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Figure 8. Lavenham 
Gasworks circa 1925. 
Source: Lavenham 
Exhibition and 
Museum Trust.
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Another family name binds the 
Sudbury and Lavenham Gasworks, 
this is the Grimwood family  
of Sudbury. Charles William 
Grimwood (Figure 7) was first 
appointed as Clerk and Collector 
of the Sudbury Gasworks by 
Alexander Stark in 1868. He had 
previously been a member of 
the family contracting business,
George Grimwood and Sons,  
who were famed for building 
Girton College in Cambridge.


Charles William Grimwood’s 
involvement with the Lavenham 
Gasworks was not ended by  
Stark’s departure. In 1871, he was 
appointed manager of the Sudbury 
Gasworks and was recorded as the 
proprietor of the Lavenham Gasworks 
between 1875 and 1896, probably 
replacing Stark.


He had obviously developed a strong 
interest in gasworks as, by 1900, 
Charles William Grimwood was listed 
as the operator of the Bures and 
Clare Gasworks as well as those  
in Sudbury and Lavenham. Although 
at this time his son, Charles George 
Grimwood (Figure 7), was recorded  
as the owner, manager and secretary 
of the Lavenham Gasworks. Charles 
William Grimwood’s interest in gas 
also extended to the founding of 
the Eastern Counties Association 
of Gas Managers and he was their 
President in 1895.


The Sudbury Gas and Coke Company 
connected its gas mains to those 
of Long Melford and closed the 
gasworks but retained the gasholders 
which it filled with gas from the 
gasworks in Sudbury. The Sudbury 
Gas and Coke Company was 
prevented by the Board of Trade from 
absorbing the Long Melford Gas and 
Coal Co. Ltd, which had obtained its 
Statutory Powers in 1888, because 
it had not obtained its own Statutory 
Powers. This only occurred in 1938, 
at which point the Long Melford  
Gas and Coal Co was liquidated.  
The inclusion of Long Melford within 
Sudbury’s area of supply brought  
the Sudbury gas supply closer 
towards Lavenham.


The Lavenham Gasworks circa 
1925 can be seen in Figure 8. The 
frontage of the gasworks is covered 
in posters for Welsbach Gas Mantles 
and Burners, most notably the three 
posters showing a lighthouse which 
can be seen reproduced in Figure 9.
The Welsbach name comes from 
Carl Auer von Welsbach, an Austrian 
chemist who made a major 
contribution to the gas industry,  
the invention of the gas mantle in 
1887. He discovered that the oxides 
of certain rare metals had the ability 
to emit light when in a state 
of incandescence. 


The Grimwood family 
and the gasworks


When he soaked the delicate mantle 
in these rare metal oxides and heated 
it with a Bunsen burner it produced 
a brilliant light.


These incandescent mantles allowed 
gas to compete with electricity for 
much longer than would have otherwise 
been possible. Welsbach was  
a popular brand and the adverts 
were more typically found in gas 
publications.


The photograph in Figure 8 shows 
the gasworks had maintained a 
similar appearance to that shown 
in the plan in Figure 6, although 
a second gasholder had been built, 
which is not visible in this photograph. 
The simple technology used in these 
small gasworks changed little  
over the 150-year history of the 
manufactured gas industry, whereas 
the large town and city gasworks 
evolved to become much more 
mechanised and advanced, enabling 
them to make gas much more 
efficiently and cheaply.
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Figure 7. 
Mr. Charles William Grimwood 
(Left) and Mr. Charles George 
Grimwood (Middle), Mr. Charles 
Edward Grimwood (Right).  
Source: National Grid Gas Archive.


The Grimwood family’s involvement 
in the Bures Gasworks (which closed 
in 1937) and Clare Gasworks (closed 
in 1942) had ceased by 1923. These 
gasworks had closed primarily due 
to competition from electricity.


Charles William Grimwood’s lease 
of the Sudbury Gasworks continued 
until 1909, at which point the Sudbury 
Gas and Coke Company took  
on direct control of the gasworks 
appointing Charles George Grimwood 
(Figure 7 middle) as the manager and 
secretary. He held this position until 
1921 when he was made managing 
director of the Sudbury Gas and Coke 
Company. His son, Charles Edward 
Grimwood, was appointed the 
gasworks manager in 1932.


Between Sudbury and Lavenham 
is the large village of Long Melford, 
which once had its own gasworks. 
It was built in 1865 by Ward and 
Silver who had built the gasworks 
originally to light their agricultural 
engineering works. 


The Long Melford Gas and Coal Co. 
Ltd was established in 1889 to take 
over control of the gas undertaking. 
This company operated the gasworks 
until 1927 when its shares were 
purchased by the Sudbury Gas and 
Coke Company; whose gas mains 
were only two miles away from 
Long Melford.
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The Grimwood’s ownership 
of the Lavenham Gasworks 
was maintained until 1936, when 
Ernest Grimwood was listed as 
the last owner of the Lavenham 
Gasworks. A year later in 1937 
the business was acquired by the 
Sudbury Gas and Coke Company 
and gas production at Lavenham 
ceased. The Grimwood family 
connection did not end as 
Charles George Grimwood 
was the managing director  
of the Sudbury Gas and Coke 
Company and his son, Charles 
Edward Grimwood, was the 
gasworks manager.


Purchase by the Sudbury 
Gas and Coke Company
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Figure 9. 
The advert for Welsbach gas 
mantles and burners Lavenham 
which featured on the front of 
Lavenham Gasworks circa 1925. 
Source: National Grid Gas Archive.


Such amalgamations had become 
popular in the first half of the 20th 
century, where small gas companies 
were acquired by their larger local 
rivals who then closed the smaller 
gasworks, offering gas at lower 
prices from their more efficient larger 
gasworks. The lower gas price 
offered by the Sudbury Gas and 
Coke Company increased demand 
for gas in Lavenham.


In order to close the gasworks at 
Lavenham, the Sudbury Gas and 
Coke Company had to lay a 4.5-mile 
high-pressure steel gas main from 
Long Melford to Lavenham, where 
the gasholders were retained to 
supply Lavenham with gas. At this 
time the operations of the Sudbury 
Gas and Coke Company were as 
shown in Figure 10, comprising a 
gasworks in Sudbury and gasholder 
stations in Long Melford and 
Lavenham. From this point onward 
gas in Lavenham was made at the 
gasworks in Sudbury and piped 
to Lavenham.


The lower gas price offered 
by the Sudbury Gas and 
Coke Company increased 
demand for gas in Lavenham.
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Both the First and Second World 
Wars had significant impacts 
on the industry. Many skilled 
labourers were lost to the war 
effort, never to return. Attacks 
on the mainland were not 
common during World War One. 
Although Lavenham escaped, 
nearby Sudbury was attacked 
on March 31st 1916 by a Zeppelin 
when several bombs were 
dropped. The gasworks and gas 
mains were unscathed, but sadly 
five people were killed.


In the Second World War the situation 
was worse. The gas industry suffered 
a combination of damage to the 
gasworks and gas mains; a loss  
of staff who were required to fight  
in the war; and underinvestment.  
The Sudbury and Lavenham area 
became a reception area for 
evacuees from London and several 
factories were relocated from 
vulnerable areas. Both factors 
increased the demand for gas,  
whilst at the same time the supply  
of coal was restricted. Gasworks 
were prime targets for aerial 
bombardment and many were 
damaged across the country.  
The gas infrastructure in Lavenham 
survived World War Two as did 
Sudbury. There was an occasion 
during the war where a gas main in 
Lavenham had to be disconnected 
whilst a bomb disposal squad 
removed an undetonated bomb 
which had landed nearby. 


The drain on personnel by the war 
effort during both world wars, allowed 
women to play a key role in keeping 
gasworks operational. They replaced 
men in many key roles, which 
included some of the most arduous 
tasks (Figure 11).


Following the end of the Second 
World War, Sir Geoffrey Heyworth 
was appointed by the Government  
to undertake a review of the gas 
industry. The review identified that 
fundamental change in the structure 
of the industry was required, grouping 
of gas undertakings into larger units. 
The incoming Labour Government 
decided the best way such change 
could be achieved was to nationalise 
the industry and amalgamate the gas 
industry into 12 regional boards. 
The gasworks as Sudbury and the 
gasholder stations at Long Melford 
and Lavenham were amalgamated 
into the Bury St. Edmonds Group 
of the Ipswich Division of the Eastern 
Gas Board.


Second World War, 
nationalisation and the 
Eastern Gas Board


Nationalisation helped rationalise the 
gas industry into more efficient units. 
After delays the go ahead was given 
shortly after nationalisation to build a 
new vertical retort house at Sudbury 
in 1950. It became affectionately 
known as ‘the Cathedral’ and is 
shown in Figure 12. Nationalisation 
did not end the Grimwood connection 
as Charles Grimwood became the 
manager and an Eastern Gas Board 
employee along with the other 
gasworks staff.


The 1950s started to see a decline 
in the availability of quality gas-
making coal. The industry looked 
towards oil and natural gas as 
potential replacements. At the time, 
oil refineries in Britain had cheap 
by-products which could be converted 
into gas through a process called 
gas reforming. Gas was being 
manufactured from oil at the Colchester 
Gasworks, which was linked by a gas 
pipeline to the Sudbury Gasworks 
following nationalisation.
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Figure 10. 
Plan of the gasworks and 
gasholder stations of the Sudbury 
Gas and Coke Company.  
Source: National Grid Gas Archive.


Figure 11. 
Mrs. Mantellow shovelling 
coke at the Beckton Gasworks, London, 
during World War II. Source: Author.


Figure 12. 
The Vertical Retort House 
built in Sudbury in 1950. 
Source: National Grid Gas Archive.
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The gasworks in Sudbury had 
become surplus to requirement 
by 1966. Charles Grimwood closed 
the gas main from the gasworks 
on the last day in March 1966, 
gas was then supplied from 
Colchester. The gasworks was 
decommissioned and demolished, 
the same fate met by most 
gasworks as the country switched 
to natural gas, Fakenham in 
Norfolk being the only one to 
survive in England. The gasholders 
were retained at Sudbury, Long 
Melford and Lavenham to provide 
gas storage.


The use of oil reforming provided a 
stopgap until the discovery of natural 
gas in the North Sea led to the 
decision to switch to natural gas in 
1966. The Eastern Gas Board was 
converted between April 1968 and 
November 1974, starting in Hitchin 
and finishing in Harpenden. The very 
last gasworks in Great Britain,  
in Millport on the Isle of Cumbrae, 
ceased production in 1981. By 1993, 
none of the gasholders in Sudbury, 
Long Melford and Levenham were 
still in use. The original gasholder  
at Lavenham survives because it  
was listed as a Scheduled Monument  
in June 1980. It can be seen in the 
foreground in Figure 13.


A History of the Lavenham Gasworks | 2022National Grid National GridA History of the Lavenham Gasworks | 2022


The first trial imports of natural gas 
to the UK were cargoes of liquified 
natural gas (LNG) from the USA, 
which were received at a specially 
built importation facility at Canvey 
Island, Essex. Regular imports  
of LNG from the Hassi R’Mel gas 
field in Algeria were made from 
1964 onwards. 


To handle these large volumes of 
imported natural gas, a cross-country 
transmission pipeline was constructed 
from Canvey Island in Essex to Leeds 
in Yorkshire, known as Feeder 1. 
It had connections to eight of the 
regional gas boards and signalled  
the development of a National Gas 
Transmission System (NTS). The NTS 
has since expanded significantly and 
is an essential part of delivering and 
storing gas in Britain.


Figure 13.
The Lavenham Gasholder Station c1970,  
with No.1 gasholder, the Scheduled Monument,  
in the foreground and the now demolished No.2 
gasholder behind. 
Source: Lavenham Exhibition and Museum Trust


Figure 14. 
Lavenham Gasworks c1920, looking across 
the yard toward the retort house, with the No.2 
gasholder visible (left), coal heap and works 
house (right), the curved metal condenser and 
purifier shed can be seen to the left of the retort 
house with its louvered roof and tall chimney.  
Source: Lavenham Exhibition and Museum Trust


The first trial imports of natural 
gas to the UK were cargoes  
of liquified natural gas (LNG) 
from the USA.
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The gasworks was a tough 
working environment, it required 
strength, skill and experience  
to load coal into the retorts and 
remove the coke. This was the 
role of a stoker (Figure 15).


Unlike natural gas, which is extracted 
from underground reservoirs, 
manufactured gas was produced 
from coal or oil heated within a sealed 
vessel called a retort. The gas making 
process is shown in Figure 16 and 
described below.


At Lavenham, gas would have been 
made in retorts similar to those which 
are shown in Figure 15. The coal 
used to make the gas can be seen 
on the retort house floor. The retort 
was a long chamber (Figure 16.3) 
with a mouthpiece containing a door 
on the front into which the coal was 
thrown. Figure 15 shows three such 
retorts with an opening at the bottom 
for putting coal into the furnace which 
burnt the coal to heat the retorts.


Without oxygen, the coal heated in 
the retorts did not burn; instead, 
the moisture was driven off and the 
large organic molecules were broken 
down by the heat into smaller and 
smaller compounds, releasing gases 
such as hydrogen, carbon monoxide, 
methane and carbon dioxide. 
Large molecules were also released 
from the coal that formed oily and 
tarry by-products.


Both the coal tar and ammoniacal 
liquor drained to a below-ground 
tar tank, where it was stored.


Other poisonous substances released 
from the coal included hydrogen 
sulphide and cyanide, which had  
to be removed. This was done 
by then passing the gas through  
the purifiers (Figure 16.6). These  
were rectangular iron vessels 
containing lime or bog iron ore.  
hey removed both sulphur and 
cyanide compounds from the gas. 
The amount of gas produced was 
measured by passing it through  
the station meter.


The purified gas, sometimes called 
‘town gas’, would be stored in 
gasholders (Figure 13), such as  
that which survives on the former 
gasworks site on Water Street in 
Lavenham. From the gasholder,  
gas would be distributed to 
customers through gas mains 
beneath the streets. The gas first 
passing through a governor which 
regulated the pressure of the gas,  
so that it was the right pressure 
for the customers.


A brief description of the gas 
manufacturing process


After the gas making process was 
complete, a period of about 8 hours, 
coke – a grey spongy material – was 
left in the retorts. This was removed 
using a rake and put into an iron cart 
and doused with water to allow it to 
cool. Coke, which was a pure form  
of carbon, was used in the furnace  
to heat the retorts, but also sold  
as a fuel to customers. It was less 
smoky to burn than coal and caused 
less air pollution.


The manufacture of gas generated 
other by-products. These were coal 
tar, ammoniacal liquor and spent 
lime or oxide generated from the 
purification of the gas. These became 
important feedstocks for the chemical 
industry, producing fertiliser (ammonium 
sulphate), wood preservatives 
(creosote), dyes (azo dyes) and 
medicines (aspirin and morphine).


The small scale of the Lavenham 
Gasworks was typical of many 
country gasworks of the period. 
Many of the advances possible at the 
medium to large gasworks were never 
feasible at such small gasworks, so 
the gas was always more expensive. 
Some closed due to competition from 
electricity such as those at Bures and 
Clare. Others, such as those at 
Lavenham, were taken over by larger 
neighbouring gasworks which could 
then supply cheaper gas by extending 
their gas mains to connect to the 
existing gas network in the town.  
The gasholder at Lavenham is one  
of the few surviving relics of this once 
huge British industry. A recreation  
of the Lavenham Gasworks has been 
provided at the front of this document, 
showing the main features.


Figure 15. 
The stoker and horizontal retorts 
at the small former gasworks 
at Robin Hood’s Bay, Yorkshire. 
Source: IGEM Archive.


Leaving the retorts, the gas passed 
up the ascension pipes which can 
be seen in Figure 15 and Figure 16.3 
and through the hydraulic main, which 
acted as a water seal to prevent the 
gas flowing back into the retorts. 
The hydraulic main also cooled the 
gas and removed some of the tar.


The gas then passed via the foul 
main to the condenser, which can  
be seen on the left-hand side of the 
retort house in Figure 14 and in more 
detail in Figure 16.4. The condenser 
cooled the gas even further, removing 
most of the tar and oil vapours in the 
process. The gas then passed through 
the washer (Figure 16.5), removing 
any residual tar and dissolving 
impurities such as ammonia or 
phenol from the gas forming 
ammoniacal liquor.


The gasholder at Lavenham  
is one of the few surviving relics 
of this once huge British industry.
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1. Coal mine


Coal is extracted from the 
coal mine and transported 
by ship or train.


7. The station meter


The amount of gas 
produced is measured  
with the station meter.


6. The purifier


The gas is purified  
by passing it through  
an iron box filled with lime 
or iron, removing sulphur 
and cyanide.


2. The collier


Coal is unloaded from 
the ship (called a collier) 
or train and transported 
to the gasworks.


8. The gasholder


The gas was stored in  
a cylindrical metal vessel 
called a gasholder, the 
bottom of the vessel being 
sealed by a water filled tank 
in which it sat. The gas was 
stored until needed.


5. The washer


The gas is washed through 
contact with water and any 
remaining tar is removed 
and other impurities are 
washed from the gas, such 
as ammonia and phenol.


3. The retorts


Coal is loaded into the hot 
retorts and the coal breaks 
down forming gas, oil and 
tar. A spongy residue remains 
in the retorts called coke, 
which is sold to customers.


9. The gas governor


The gas was supplied to 
the customer through the 
gas mains, using a governor 
to control the pressure.


4. The condenser


The gas passes through
a pipe from the retort 
furnace to the condenser 
and is cooled by the air.  
Oil, tar and water vapour 
are removed from the gas 
making it cleaner.


Figure 16. 
The manufacture of gas from  
coal as would have occurred  
at Lavenham Gasworks.
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Recipients
Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Works Programme
Tank and Bell Removal Erith
Refurbshment Design Craddys
Refurbishment Contractor

Public Benefits
Timetable, responsibility and links 
to main works

IPB GYBC This plan and associated document 8(ii) 8 (iii) 
8(k) 6(ii) 6(iii) 
6(j) 6(k)

Initial Community Awareness and 
communications

IPB Residents, businesses, 
interest groups, elected 
representatives

Pre-start on site 8(i) 8(j) 6(i) 
6(j) 6(k)

Website IPB Residents, businesses, 
interest groups, elected 
representatives

Launch at start and update 
throughout the programme

8(i) 8 (a) 8(c) 
8(g) 6(c) 6(f) 
6(g)

Interim Interpretation Panel IPB Residents, visitors, 
interest groups

Requires research in advance of final 
panel

8(a) 6(a) 8(i)

Retention and on-site storage Erith/Montagu Evans GYBC, HE, interest 
groups

During tank and bell removal 8(d) 8(e) 6(c) 
6(d) 6(e)

Site History Research R Thomas Residents, visitors, 
interest groups

Requires time to undertake research 8(i)

History Booklet R Thomas Residents, visitors, 
interest groups

Dependent on research 8(i) 8(g) 6(g)

Online History Talks R Thomas Residents, visitors, 
interest groups

Dependent on research 8(h) 6(h)

Public Visits IPB Residents, visitors, 
interest groups

Annual visits at key stages 8(j)

Schools engagement Local schools Requires time to undertake research 8(i)

Time-lapse Erith/contractors Residents, visitors, 
interest groups

Throughout all site works 8(i) 8(a)

Film of works IPB Residents, visitors, 
interest groups

Throughout all site works 8(i) 8 (a)

Heritage Recording Montagu Evans GYBC, HE, interest 
groups

Throughout all site works 5

Heritage Skills Training Erith/contractors GYBC, HE Throughout all site works 8(b) 6(b)
Museums Donations/Exhibitions IPB Residents, visitors, 

interest groups
Dependent on tank and bell works 8(i) 8 (a) 8(f) 

8(i) 6(f) 6(i)
Final Interpretation panel and 
celebration event

IPB Residents, visitors, 
interest groups

Dependant on research and works 
completition

8(i) 8 (a) 6(a)

2024 2025 2026Activity Responsible Rationale Condition 

Timetable
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